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Preface

			©2025 Richard Newsholme, CC BY-NC 4.0 https://doi.org/10.11647/OBP.0437.00

			This book explores the history of music and liturgy at Worcester Cathedral from its foundation in the seventh century until about 1950. It also looks at the political background, especially when this has brought about radical change. By the time of Henry VIII’s break from the Roman Catholic Church and the tumultuous birth of the Church of England, the cathedral had already stood for over eight and a half centuries. Founded to serve in the traditional Roman Church, it became a Benedictine monastic cathedral in the tenth century and continued as this for over five hundred years until the Dissolution. The cathedral then became an Anglican one with what we can now see as two brief interruptions. The first was a five-year return to Roman Catholicism under Queen Mary, the second, a fourteen-year transformation during Oliver Cromwell’s rule in the following century, when the building served as a meeting-house for Non-Conformists. 

			The importance and significance of both the liturgy and the music have fluctuated greatly between these periods. For the monks of the priory, they provided the framework of their routine; the liturgy was governed by a set of arcane rules, and the ritual and its associated chant probably occupied their thoughts for much of the day. In contrast, for the Non-Conformists of the Interregnum, music and liturgy were considered unnecessary and burdensome. The ceremonial had no scriptural authority, had been drained of significance by mindless repetition, and was better discarded. In more recent centuries, the liturgical form has varied with the beliefs of the senior churchmen, for some of whom it held no significance, while for others it added dignity to the worship and a sense of pride to those who performed it. Considered unimportant in the earlier nineteenth century, it was accompanied by declining standards of choral singing leading to a serious lapse and became what S S Wesley called a ‘source of grief and shame’.1

			
			The book is intended for general, non-specialist readers, but references to sources and to works by various scholars have been included for those who wish to look deeper into subjects of interest. I have included musical examples for those who read music, but I hope they will not deter those who do not, as they are not essential for the narrative. The account finishes in 1950, which may seem odd, especially as really significant advances were still to come. In particular, the music reached a new level of excellence that it had probably never achieved before. I believe, though, that a longer perspective is needed to give an adequate, balanced account of more recent years. An author must respect the feelings of individuals and families still alive, and hurt may be caused by missing an essential event or by including one considered private. Avoiding sensitive issues can also lead to a partial or misleading account, so the task is better left to others of a later generation. Rather than merely passing over these years, however, I have included a postscript to highlight some of the more important milestones.

			Worcester Cathedral is an ideal subject for an investigation of this sort. Apart from its long history, there is a rich survival of evidence, including medieval liturgical manuscripts, rare fragments of early polyphony, choir and organ partbooks, and various archives and muniments. It also has a story often shared by other English cathedrals, not all of them so well documented, and because of this, has a wider relevance and, I hope, a wider interest.

			October 2024

			

			
				
						1	Wesley (1849), p. 2.


				

			

		

		
		

			
1. The Music and Liturgy of the Medieval Mass and Office 
(680–1540)

			©2025 Richard Newsholme, CC BY-NC 4.0 https://doi.org/10.11647/OBP.0437.01

			The last fifty years have seen growing interest in relating medieval liturgy to the churches it took place in. This can help our understanding of the way the music and liturgy were performed and can also throw light on the influence this had on the design and use of the architecture. The first chapter aims to make this connection for the various buildings that served the Benedictine Cathedral Priory at Worcester. It also describes some of the more important monastic ceremonies that appear in the so-called Worcester Antiphoner (c.1230), a famous and rare survivor of the destruction of liturgical manuscripts at the time of Edward VI. Before the monastery was founded, however, a cathedral built in the seventh century stood alone for three hundred years. Much is unknown about it, but the chapter starts by exploring what we can discover about the liturgy that took place there.

			This first cathedral was built at Worcester shortly after the founding of the episcopal see in about 680 and dedicated to St Peter.1 The diocese was the Anglo-Saxon kingdom of the Hwicce. It was larger than the modern diocese, including most of Worcestershire and Gloucestershire, part of Warwickshire and small portions of several other counties. St Augustine had arrived in Kent about eighty years earlier on his mission to convert the pagans to Christianity, but Celtic Christianity had been established amongst the Hwicce before that. Steven Bassett has even suggested that the religion was rooted amongst the Early Britons in the Severn valley before the Anglo-Saxons arrived.2

			
				
					[image: A city map showing the layout around a cathedral, including surrounding streets and landmarks like the River Severn, the Bishop's Palace, and various nearby churches, with a shaded area denoting historical fortifications such as a rampart and ditch.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 1 The Iron Age rampart and ditch and Worcester’s early churches 
(based on Napthan (2014), Fig. 1, p. 3, with permission)

			The new cathedral was built on a low promontory on a bend of the River Severn. Archaeologists have been able to show that it was bounded on the west by the river and on the north, south and east by an Iron Age rampart and ditch (see Fig. 1). It is now understood to have occupied a central position within this earlier defensive area, and this implies it may already have been a place of ritual or religious significance.3 Charters surviving from this early period show that until the English monastic reform of the late tenth century, St Peter’s was the only cathedral at Worcester, and the community was a secular (non-monastic) one.4

			Other than the cathedral, the three earliest Worcester churches were St Helen’s, St Alban’s, and St Margaret’s. St Margaret’s disappeared at some time during the Middle Ages but the other two still exist. St Helen’s was the oldest, and it has even been suggested that it predated the Anglo-Saxons.5 St Alban’s and St Margaret’s had been built by 721, when the chronicle of Evesham Abbey claims they became possessions of the abbey, and St Margaret’s may well have stood close to St Alban’s.6 These three may have formed a so-called Anglo-Saxon church group: churches which were clustered together, often on an east-west axis, and which cooperated together in various ways. Helen Gittos has discussed how medieval liturgy could often be peripatetic, involving processions between churches with a very public display of the ritual, but she has warned that we should not assume that churches were part of such a group just because they were close to one another.7 At Worcester the three churches were certainly grouped together, and they were close enough to the cathedral for it to be included in ceremonies too. Possibly they were even aligned east-west following the Iron Age rampart, although the original site of the long-vanished St Margaret’s is uncertain. Further evidence is needed, and for now such a collaborative relationship has to remain an interesting possibility.

			St Peter’s Cathedral and the Secular Liturgy

			Evidence for the liturgy performed in the secular cathedral is rather scanty. A commentary on the Mass, written in an elegant Irish hand, survives from the late eighth or early ninth century and is likely to have been copied at Worcester. It was formerly in the cathedral library and was catalogued there in 1622–3 but is now in the Bodleian Library.8 Known as the primum in ordine from the opening words, it is an early copy of one of several commentaries written on the continent around this time. They are thought to have been encouraged by the Carolingian reformers to promote Charlemagne’s campaign to standardise the liturgy, and are likely to have been intended as teaching texts for clergy. If the primum in ordine was used in this way at Worcester, it may show the way Mass was performed at St Peter’s and hence imply a Carolingian influence there.9 The commentary describes a sung Mass, and there is particular mention of antiphonal performance of the Introit and the Gradual by two choirs. The Agnus Dei was sung to a plainsong melody (cantatur modulando) during the taking of the bread and wine. The account also reminds readers that following a ruling by Pope Telesphorus, the first Mass of Christmas was to be celebrated during the night. 

			The so-called Egbert Pontifical, now in Paris, is thought to have been copied for Oswald, who was Bishop of Worcester from about 961.10 It gives details of the liturgy for ceremonies in which the bishop took part, such as the lengthy and complicated rite of church dedication. Also from this period, a prayer book of the eighth century has marginal notes which are thought to have been written at the Worcester Priory.11 These notes have been dated to either the middle of the tenth century or to the early years after Bishop Oswald’s arrival. They include prayers for the Mass and for a complete set of Office Hours, the round of daily prayer composed of Matins, Lauds, Prime, Terce, Sext, None, Vespers, and Compline. There are also prayers for special ceremonies such as for exorcising a communal space or anointing the sick. Their existence suggests that all of these observances and rites, including Masses and a full set of Office Hours, would have been used at Worcester at this time.12

			In addition to these, there were votive Masses on behalf of benefactors. Votive Masses were those performed in addition to the prescribed liturgy of the day. Some of them are mentioned in early charters. In 757 three rulers of the Hwicce granted land to the church in return for solemn celebrations of Mass to be offered up for them ‘by day and by night’.13 Later, by a charter of 875, the Office Hours were supplemented by a memorial at the request of the King of the Mercians, Ceolwulf II. A memorial consisted of rather more than this simple word implies: it was an antiphon, a versicle and response, and a collect, usually added at the end of an Office Hour. In return for this duty, Ceolwulf granted the diocese exemption from the burden of feeding the king’s horses and grooms.14 The ruler succeeding Ceolwulf, Aethelred, with his wife, asked for a Psalm to be sung daily at Matins (uhtsong), Terce (undernsong), and Vespers (evensong). In return, they authorised the construction of fortifications at Worcester and offered half the income they received from the city because of their sovereignty.15 

			These supplements to daily worship, no doubt along with many others not recorded, increased the church’s wealth but made the ritual considerably more complicated.

			The Birth of the Priory

			In 969, according to a later synod, Bishop Oswald founded the priory.16 It was a time of change in the Western Church, following the lead of Cluny Abbey in eastern France, and King Edgar had set up a council at Winchester aiming to encourage and unify Benedictine worship in the Cluniac tradition. He shared the reformer’s goal of restoring Benedictine monasteries to being great centres of piety and learning. If he could achieve this and encourage the creation of new monasteries, it might also enhance his own prestige.

			The three senior reformers to lead the council were Bishop Aethelwold of Winchester, Archbishop Dunstan of Canterbury, and Bishop Oswald of Worcester. They borrowed ‘even as honey is gathered by bees’ from the customs of the Abbey of St Benoît-sur-Loire at Fleury and the Abbey of St Peter, Ghent, and all the assembled bishops, abbots, and abbesses vowed to carry out the council’s rulings.17 The code of monastic observance that resulted is known as the Regularis Concordia [The Monastic Agreement], and the details of liturgy given there were those that came to be used by Oswald at Worcester. Although the synod had given a date of 969 for the foundation of the priory, Julia Barrow has suggested that the move to a fully monastic community was not complete until some time between the early eleventh century and the episcopate of Wulfstan II (1062–95).18 Oswald built a new cathedral for the monks, which was completed by 983, and St Peter’s was then probably occupied by the secular clergy.19 

			From the earliest days of the priory, two daily Masses would have been attended by the whole community: Main Mass at the high altar and Morrow Mass at the matutinal altar. The latter would have stood in the quire at the foot of the steps leading to the sanctuary.20 Some Benedictine houses also celebrated a daily Lady Mass from the first half of the twelfth century. At the Cathedral Priory of Rochester, for example, it was started in the 1130s, and at the Abbey of Bury St Edmunds, it began during the rule of Abbot Anselm (1121–46).21 At Worcester, however, a daily celebration of Lady Mass is not mentioned until the late thirteenth century, when a certain Christina gifted six shillings annually ‘for maintenance of the lamp of the Blessed Mary where her daily Mass is celebrated’. By this, she hoped to benefit her soul and those of her ancestors.22 The lamp was in the Lady Chapel, and both the chapel and the lamp were first mentioned in a document of 1259 or 1260.23 The chapel lay in the new eastern extension of the cathedral, the foundation stone for which had been laid by Bishop William de Blois in 1224 and which Ute Engel considers was probably finished by the mid-1250s.24 Daily Lady Mass may have started from the time the altar was consecrated, but the exact date of this is unknown.

			Unlike the Main Mass and Morrow Mass, Lady Mass was not attended by the whole convent but was run on a weekly rota, as is made clear by one of the injunctions after Archbishop Winchelsey’s visitation in 1301:

			Those persons deputed each week to celebrate Mass of the Blessed Virgin, whose names are made known, are to remain continuously until the completion of Mass, according to the wish of the precentor. An absentee without lawful cause on that day has to be content with bread and pottage.25

			Some idea of the usual attendance at Lady Mass is given by records of other large Benedictine houses. The customary of Westminster Abbey of c.1266 records that the custos of the chapel was to be present, or another brother in his place, along with his clerk and six monks, whose names would be listed on the tabula or duty roster.26 At the Cathedral Priory of Canterbury, it was the precentor, along with seven monks, who attended daily.27 White vestments were often associated with Marian devotion, and by his will of 1301, Bishop Giffard bequeathed his own to the chapel, which were white and made of diaper (silk). He also left it his alb, amice, stole, and maniple of the same suit.28 A later chapel inventory at Worcester, however, lists red, green and blue ones as well, often with silver or gold embroidery.29

			The Little Office of the Virgin

			There was an extraordinary expansion of the cult of Mary across Western Europe in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries. It found expression at Worcester in the new Lady Chapel, the daily Lady Mass, and in a round of murals circling the chapter house, which seem to have culminated with Mary’s Assumption and crowning as Queen of Heaven. The cult also inspired the ‘Little Office of the Virgin’. This was a complete set of Office Hours honouring the Virgin, and it appears in the Worcester Antiphoner. Each hour was sung in the quire after its counterpart in the regular Office. The Blessed Virgin was seen not only as Queen of Heaven but also as Bride of Christ and Intercessor for the salvation of mankind, and personal adoration of her spread enormously. Private devotions using Books of Hours, which included the Little Office of the Virgin, were much favoured and copied in large numbers.

			The Worcester manuscript includes nine Magnificat antiphons for Vespers of the Virgin, to be sung between Pentecost and the Nativity of the Virgin. They do not appear elsewhere, and Sally Roper believes they were newly composed for this Office.30 One is illustrated in Fig. 2.

			
				
					[image: A close-up of medieval musical notation on a manuscript, displaying intricate handwritten notes and Latin text on a lined background, with decorative elements marking specific sections.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 2 The sixth Magnificat antiphon, Sexaginta sunt regine et octoginta concubine [There are sixty queens and eighty concubines], Song of Songs, 6:7 
(F160, fol. 81v, photograph by Dr David Morrison, Cathedral Librarian, by permission of the Chapter of Worcester Cathedral, all rights reserved)

			
Performing the Liturgy in the Anglo-Saxon, Romanesque, and Gothic Cathedrals

			The monastic day followed an accepted order with slight variations between summer and winter. The exact timing of services, however, was governed by sunrise and sunset. Shortly after midnight, the day would start with Matins followed by Lauds, after which the monks would return to bed. In the winter, Lauds would be delayed until just before daybreak. Following daybreak would come Prime, then study in the cloisters before Terce and Morrow Mass. The community would meet in the chapter house, there would be a further period of study in the cloister, then Sext and a procession leading on to High Mass. The Office of None was held around midday, after which there would be a meal, then Vespers in the afternoon and Compline to end the day. 

			The content of services depended on whether the day was a feast or ferial one. At the time of the Worcester Antiphoner, the feasts were divided into six ranks according to importance. In the highest rank, known as the Septem festum, were thirteen festivals, of which four were called the principal feasts: Christmas, Easter, and the Assumption and Nativity of the Blessed Virgin. Next there were five of Solemnis processio rank, twenty-four in capis, and eighteen in albis. Finally came the ranks ‘Twelve lessons’ and ‘Three lessons’. The more important feast days started with Vespers on the previous day, known as the first Vespers of the festival. All of these services were private and laity were not admitted. In fact, laymen were usually confined to the nave west of the rood screen and only pilgrims visiting the shrines of St Oswald and St Wulfstan were allowed access to the east end of the cathedral.

			The cathedral church dedicated to St Peter stood at Worcester for four centuries. Its presbytery was enlarged during the reign of Edward the Confessor, and it probably stood until the end of the eleventh century.31 St Mary’s Cathedral, built during the time of Bishop Oswald, was completed by 983. It was larger than St Peter’s and so able to hold the many who came to hear Oswald preach, but the only description we have of it comes from a passing reference in William of Malmesbury’s Vita Wulfstani [Life of Wulfstan]. This passage mentions, while describing Wulfstan’s devotions, that it had eighteen altars and a western chapel dedicated to All Saints.32

			Bishop Oswald, following the instructions of the Regularis Concordia for the newly-founded monastery, would have had to meet its requirements for the building. In the 1970s an American scholar, Arnold Klukas, listed three of these.33 The first was a need for secreta oratorii loca [secret places of the oratory]: altars or chapels that were secluded enough to be used for private prayer and Masses. The exact meaning of the word ‘oratory’ is still unclear. Secondly, the text describes a procession each night after Lauds to a chapel to celebrate Lauds for All Saints and Lauds for the Dead.34 The site of this chapel is not mentioned, but Klukas found that a customary for Essen Abbey, North Germany, which has marked similarities to the Concordia, showed that there it was held in a raised chapel at the west end of the church. It is possible that similarly, a raised, western chapel was used in England. Finally, the Concordia describes the tenebrae liturgy of the three nights leading up to Easter. This was the Office during which the candles were extinguished one by one until the church was left in darkness. Then, through the dark, came four short chants from different parts of the building. An Old English version of the Concordia describes it as follows:

			With all the lights extinguished, two well-rehearsed children go to the south chapel as shown them beforehand, and with loud, melodious voices sing, Kyrieleison; similarly, another two in the north chapel sing in response, Christeleison, and at the west wall, two of maturer years sing Domine miserere nobis. When this is finished, the whole choir answers, Christus dominus factus est obediens usque ad mortem.35

			The monks would have sat facing each other across the aisle, and together they would have formed the choir. The text implies that the chapels on the north and south lay behind them. The third chant would then be sung from the west, and the fourth would be taken up by all the monks together.

			Many of the eighteen altars in Oswald’s cathedral may have provided ‘secret places of the oratory’, although we are not told where they were. The western chapel was perhaps the one described in 1041 as ‘an upper room of a certain tower in the monastery of Worcester’,36 and it may have been used for the Offices after Lauds each night. But little more can be said from this rather slim evidence. It is just possible, however, that the cathedral shared some features with another church in the diocese, which has survived remarkably well. Deerhurst Priory, near Tewkesbury, may have been one of the seven monasteries that Bishop Oswald was said to have reformed, and its church remains largely Anglo-Saxon. It has a lofty tower at the west with a chapel on the second floor; corbels on the west wall indicate there was originally a gallery there; and a square quire is flanked by porticus [chapels] on two levels, the upper ones overlooking the quire below through arched openings (see Fig. 3 and Fig. 4).

			
				
					[image: A simplified floor plan of a church with labels such as 'Nave,' 'Quire,' and 'Apse,' including details of chapels (porticus) on two floors, north and south, and a staircase to a gallery.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 3 Plan of Deerhurst Church c.1000 (drawn by the author, CC BY-NC 4.0)

			
				
					[image: Interior of a historic church featuring a raised pulpit with intricate wooden carvings, red carpet, and a prominent stone archway with a cross in the centre, framed by simple white walls and modest floral decoration.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 4 The former quire of Deerhurst Church. The blocked archway led to the apse and the arched openings on north and south communicated with upper chapels (photograph by the author, CC BY-NC 4.0)

			Deerhurst Church would have accommodated the Concordia liturgy remarkably well: the chapel in the west tower could have been used for the night Offices after Lauds; the upper chapels overlooking the quire were ideally suited for the first two chants at the end of tenebrae, with the third chant coming from the western gallery; and the small chapels north and south of the quire could also serve as ‘secret places of the oratory’. Oswald’s cathedral would have been larger than Deerhurst Church, but some of the eighteen altars were quite likely to have been in chapels flanking the quire, as at Deerhurst. Upper chapels would have served for the tenebrae antiphony, and the western chapel for the Offices after Lauds. We can also compare the Old Minster at Winchester, Bishop Aethelwold’s own cathedral and the most important centre of the tenth-century monastic revival. Here there were chapels north and south of the quire and also a row of several more on either side of the nave. In addition, there was a large westwork with further chapels flanking a central narthex. All of these could have provided ‘secret places of the oratory’ to serve this larger community, and they give clues to how these were provided at Worcester.37

			For a century Oswald’s cathedral served the monastery, but by the 1080s the community was growing. Bishop Wulfstan claimed to have expanded it from twelve to fifty, and in 1084 he started to build a new, larger cathedral that was also to be dedicated to St Mary.38 There is evidence that many Anglo-Saxon traditions were continued by Wulfstan, and it seems quite likely that the same applied to the liturgy. The new cathedral was a Norman one, and archaeologists have discovered much about its construction—summaries of the evidence for this have been published by Philip Barker and Ute Engel.39 It is not difficult to see how the Concordia requirements could have been fulfilled in this new building. 

			Bishop Samson was buried in 1112 in navi ecclesiae, ante crucifixum [in the nave of the church, before the cross], which must refer to a rood cross, and there are signs that galleries stretched the length of the cathedral, including the transepts40 (Fig. 5). Singers in these galleries would have been able to take part in the tenebrae rituals, chanting above the heads of those in the quire below. Private prayers and Masses could take place in the chapels around the presbytery and in similar ones in the crypt and in tribune (gallery) chapels above. The construction of the west end of the cathedral is uncertain, but Engel has argued that it was most likely to have employed twin towers, as at Christ Church and St Augustine’s, Canterbury.41 In this case it is likely that there would have been a raised chapel above the west door between the towers, and this could continue to be used for the Offices following Lauds.

			
				
					[image: Diagram showing the floor plan of a cathedral with different structural levels and sections labelled. The nave, quire, presbytery, and chapels are highlighted, alongside features such as twin towers and galleries. The illustration includes both a top-down schematic and an isometric section.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 5 The Romanesque cathedral of Worcester, c.1100, showing the crypt, ground floor, and platform galleries (drawn by the author, CC BY-NC 4.0)

			
				
					[image: A schematic plan of a large cathedral complex labelled with 'Nave' and 'Quire,' illustrating the spatial arrangement of the building's sections, including side chapels and entry points.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 6 The Gothic cathedral of Worcester (drawn by the author, CC BY-NC 4.0)

			The final rebuilding of the cathedral, this time in a Gothic style, started with the two western bays of the nave, which may have needed reconstructing after the fall of a western tower in 1175.42 In this reconstruction, the western chapel would have been lost, and the Offices after Lauds each night would have had to move. Some years later, the west transept was also rebuilt, with removal of the platform galleries that had bordered the crossing.43 Then a further radical change in the liturgical layout was brought about by the eastern extension of the cathedral in the years between 1224 and about 1255. After this, as Engel has now shown, the monks’ quire (chorus major) was moved to a position east of the crossing, with the pulpitum between the eastern crossing piers and a rood beam between the western ones. The crossing itself served as chorus minor, an area for elderly or infirm monks to sit to hear the liturgy (Fig. 6).

			By degrees, galleries were removed from the length of the building, with altars moving to the ground floor. If a saint had an altar in the cathedral, by the thirteenth century there would be processions to it after first Vespers and after Lauds—a safer undertaking if climbs up narrow spiral staircases could be avoided.

			Use of Bells

			The Regularis Concordia mentioned the frequent use of bells in Anglo-Saxon churches and made a point of continuing this. William of Malmesbury’s Vita Wulfstani says of him, ‘Above the roof of the church he devised a structure in which the bells hung’, suggesting that he also encouraged the tradition.44

			It was usual to ring a bell both inside and outside the church during Mass at the singing of the Sanctus and again at the elevation of the consecrated elements. The bells would announce these holy moments to those who were unable to see them, so that they could offer an act of adoration to God. Bishop William de Blois referred to another reason for ringing during Mass when, during the religious Crusades, he ruled in his synodal statutes of 1229 for the diocese of Worcester:

			When the bell is rung for the Holy Land during the celebration of Mass, everyone hearing this outside the church and understanding it should kneel and say the Lord’s prayer, namely Pater Noster, for the succour of the Holy Land.

			Bishop Walter de Cantilupe called the bell within the church a little one (campanella), but it is possible that the large bell in the quire mentioned in a sacrist’s account of 1501–2 also referred to a Sanctus bell.45

			Two chants were marked out by the ringing of bells actually during the singing on some high festivals. They were the Gloria at Mass and the Te Deum in Matins, both ancient Latin hymns praising God for his divinity and rejoicing in the salvation brought by Christ. Both were sung on days of a festive nature, and often when one was omitted, so was the other. Although there is no rubric (i.e., written instruction) about ringing during the Gloria in the Worcester Antiphoner, it was usual practice for the bells to start at the words et in terra pax [and on earth, peace]. For Easter Day Matins, the rubric regarding the Te Deum reads: ‘Let [the bell] be rung for the Te Deum, [and] at per singulos dies benedicimus te [every day we bless thee], let a classicum be rung.’46 Classicum literally translates as a ‘war trumpet call’ and because of this is generally taken to mean that all the bells were clashed together. It was used at times of great joy or solemnity.

			The traditional ringing before services was sometimes accompanied by the use of a mysterious apparatus. For example, on St Mark’s Day (April 25th), a procession took place into the city, and after Sext, the apparatus was struck, followed by three chimes on one of the great bells as a sign for the convent to assemble in the quire.47 Two passages in the Antiphoner give clues as to its nature. On Good Friday before Terce, the instruction reads, ‘at a convenient time let the board be struck at the door of the church at the apparatus three times’, and on Maundy Thursday before the meal, ‘the sub-prior, leaving, strikes the board near the cymbal’.48 Taken together these suggest a board combined with a clapper and cymbal. This probably hung in the cloister near the door from the east walk into the church. It was usual for the bells and cymbals to be silent between the Gloria at Mass on Maundy Thursday and the Gloria at Mass on Holy Saturday, and the board could be used as a substitute during this sombre time.

			Dominical tabulae


			The precentor’s accounts include willow (or oak) boards for ‘dominical tabulae’ in the cloisters.49 The tabula listed the duties for the coming week starting on Sunday and was displayed in the cloisters. Particular guidance for compiling this duty roster is given for the complex liturgies of the tenebrae services during the Triduum (Maundy Thursday, Good Friday, and Holy Saturday) and for Easter Day and the week following. As an example, we can take the rubric for the first two Offices on Easter Day. The rubric gives the names of roles allocated to monks, which first need some explanation.

			The precentor had the onerous responsibility of overseeing the performance of the liturgy, but he was assisted in this by the cantaria. The cantaria played a leading role in the chanting, and in the Sarum Use—the Salisbury Cathedral tradition—the role was known as ‘ruler of the choir’. The community would be split between the two sides of the quire, facing each other across the aisle, and the rows of stalls they occupied were known as forms and were numbered from the front, with the junior monks occupying the first form. The ebdomadarii were the celebrants for the Office. Each served for a week, and when there were two, they would probably have been stationed on opposite sides of the quire. They were assisted by the diaconus ebdomadarius, or deacon on duty for the week.

			The rubric reads:

			The way the tabula should be written for the following Offices:

			[FOR MATINS:]

			The Invitatory: two ebdomadarii and five of the seniors.

			[Antiphons:]

			The first antiphon: the ebdomadarius.

			The two remaining: two seniors.

			[Responsories:]

			For the first responsory: three, namely the two ebdomadarii and the third of the second form of the cantaria’s choir.

			For the second: four of the second form, from either choir.

			For the third: as on [a feast of rank] septem festum.

			[Lessons:]

			For the first lesson: the diaconus ebdomadarius.

			For the second: one of the seniors, or the prior may read it if he wishes.

			For the third: the lord bishop.

			And let the names of thurifers be written for each [lesson].

			FOR LAUDS:

			The ebdomadarius [intones] the antiphon.

			Let the seniors, in order after the superiors, start the rest.

			Otherwise as at the Office [on a feast of rank] septem festum.50

			Matins usually included three nocturns on Sundays and feast days. The first two consisted of six antiphons with psalms, and four so-called great responsories with lessons. The third had a single antiphon with three canticles, and four great responsories with lessons. On ferial days there were only two, simpler nocturns. Easter Day Matins was exceptional and, as this rubric implies, only had one nocturn with three antiphons and three responsories.

			
Embellishments of the Chant at Worcester

			For important feast days, the chants of the Mass were often embellished, and the most traditional form of embellishment was the melisma, in which multiple melody notes were sung to a single syllable. The melisma was favoured by St Augustine of Hippo (354–430), the most renowned of the Church fathers, who, using the term jubilus, wrote: ‘The jubilus is something which signifies that the heart labours with what it cannot utter […] the heart rejoices without words, and the great expanse of joy has not the limit of syllables’.51 Especially between the ninth and eleventh centuries, there was a fashion for filling melismas with text, and also for adding supplementary wording and chant, particularly to the music of the Proper of the Mass (i.e., those chants varying with the feast: the Introit, Gradual, Alleluia, Offertory, and Communion). The text additions were known as prosulae or prosae, and the term ‘trope’ was often used when both text and chant were added.52 David Hiley has written a lucid introduction to this music in his book, Gregorian Chant. 

			 The Alleluia, which was sung after the Gradual in the Mass except during the penitential season, was already embellished with melismas. The Alleluia itself was followed by one (called the jubilus), and the verse that followed usually repeated this. A prosula consisted of words set to these melismas, written to make sense with the words of the Alleluia verse itself. The complete performance would follow the order:

			Alleluia – verse – Alleluia

			Several have survived in a Worcester manuscript, written with a neumatic notation on four-lined staves which have been scratched onto the paper with a point. Neumes were signs indicating either a single note or a small group of notes. Those used in this manuscript mostly represent single notes, and they take the form either of a notehead by itself (a punctum) or one with a tail (a virga). The difference between the two is uncertain. Earlier notations did not use a stave, so there was no precise indication of pitch, but here the presence of a stave means that the chants can be transcribed.53 

			
				
					[image: A manuscript page showing medieval plainchant notation, with text in Latin and neumes above the lines of the text.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 7 The start of the verse for Alleluya Posuisti Domine (Add MS 25, photograph by Dr David Morrison, Cathedral Librarian, by permission of the Chapter of Worcester Cathedral, all rights reserved)

			
				
					[image: Musical manuscript for a Latin liturgical chant. Features traditional neumes and modern notation on a four-line staff. The text reads 'Posuisti Domum super sanctum tabernaculum', a reference to the sacred dwelling, possibly used in medieval mass settings.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 8 The start of the verse for Alleluya Posuisti Domine taken from F160, fol. 346v (verse alone) and Add MS 25, fol. 2v (verse with prosula) (transcribed by the author)54

			An example is Alleluya Posuisti Domine, used for a number of festivals of martyrs. It is thought to have been copied at the Worcester Priory, perhaps in the second decade of the twelfth century.55 The text of the start of the verse without prosula reads: ‘O Lord, thou hast set a crown of precious jewels upon her head’, which, with the prosula, becomes: ‘O holy Lord Jesus Christ, thou hast set a distinguished woman with honour and glory in the celestial home and the shining sanctuary of the saints, and a radiant crown shines upon her head’ (the martyr could, of course, be male or female). Fig. 8 is a transcript of the start of this verse compared with the verse without prosula in the Worcester Antiphoner. Almost every note of the melisma has been given text in the prosula.

			Some of these chant embellishments, by providing a commentary on the feast being celebrated, were able to make the Mass more relevant to the occasion, but their use declined in the twelfth century as various church reforms moved to standardise the liturgy.56

			Medieval Monastic Ceremonial at Worcester

			A Pontifical (i.e., a book of rites led by the bishop) that was used at Worcester from the 1060s57 and the later Worcester Antiphoner both have detailed rubrics that show how many of the more significant ceremonies took place in the priory. The following account gives an outline of some of them.

			Tenebrae

			The three days of the triduum (Maundy Thursday, Good Friday, Holy Saturday) started with tenebrae, a stripped-down amalgam of Matins and Lauds, during which the lights were gradually extinguished until the church was left in darkness. The rubric in the Worcester Antiphoner reads:

			Before Matins twenty-three candles are placed on a candlestand across the presbytery, with a tapestry hanging down below, and while [the bell] is rung for Matins, they are lit.58  

			
			After some prayers, a classicum was rung to express the distress and anguish of the occasion. 

			The lessons of the first nocturn each night were taken from the Lamentations of Jeremiah. Although sung to the usual tone, there was an introductory formula, Incipit lamentatio Jeremiae Prophetae [Here begins the Lamentation of Jeremiah the Prophet], before the first lesson, and a closing sentence, Jerusalem, Jerusalem convertere ad Dominum Deum tuum [Jerusalem, Jerusalem return to the Lord your God], after each. Probably because of this added complication, the precentor was responsible for appointing the singers. The rubric continues:

			After each psalm and lesson, let one candle be extinguished from alternate sides by a servant sitting nearby until all the lights are out.59 

			Each of the three shortened nocturns included three lessons (with responsories) and three psalms (with antiphons). Counting these with the five psalms (with antiphons) in Lauds made twenty-three, corresponding with the number of candles.

			The last part of the Office, taking place in complete darkness, has been mentioned previously (see the section on Performing the Liturgy in the Anglo-Saxon, Romanesque, and Gothic Cathedrals, above). It ended with the whole community singing the final chant, Christus dominus factus est obediens usque ad mortem [Christ the Lord became obedient even unto death]. To the monks these words would have been a chilling reminder out of the dark that the Light of the World had been extinguished.60 The account in the Worcester Antiphoner is somewhat similar, but includes verses sung by three cantores [soloists], and no longer uses the north and south chapels.61 It ends:

			After this has been said, the prior raps the stall. On hearing this, the subsacrist takes the lantern, and, with the ceremony over and the lamp lit, they go to the dormitory.62

			The compilers of the Concordia seem to have been concerned that the final part of the ritual in full blackout could be too disturbing, and they added a qualification: ‘those who are not willing shall not in any way be compelled to follow this practice’.63 There is no doubt however that the ceremony was intended to be a disquieting experience. It would have left receptive participants sobered and chastened as they left for the dormitory, meditating on the terror of sin-begotten darkness. 

			The Two-Part Rite of Public Penance

			Bishop Wulfstan I (1002–16) was a strong advocate of public penance before a bishop. A penitential sentence was imposed for more serious public offences, examples of which might include oath breaking, refusal to pay tithes, marrying a nun, sorcery, and murder.64 The penitent was expelled from the church on Ash Wednesday, when the first part of the rite was performed, and excluded until his reconciliation on Maundy Thursday. Wulfstan had highlighted the parallel with Adam in the book of Genesis, who was banished from paradise because of his wrongdoing.65 This association is illustrated in a spandrel relief of c.1240 in the dado arcading of the south-east transept of the cathedral, which merges the Genesis story with the rite of public penance. It shows the expulsion of Adam and Eve from paradise, but in place of the Garden of Eden is the unmistakeable carving of a church and a church door (Fig. 9). The carving emphasises Wulfstan’s correlation of the penitential rite with the bible story, and also, incidentally, it shows that it was still in use over two centuries after his death.

			The sections of the Pontifical written at Worcester around 1100 describe how, on Ash Wednesday, the penitents came before the bishop barefoot and dressed in wool, and after confessing their sin, sought forgiveness through penance.66 The bishop marked them with ashes, and after some prayers and the antiphon Exaudi nos Domine [Hear us O Lord], they moved to the altar with the processional antiphon Iuxta vestibulum et altare [Near the porch and the altar] and the Litany. Here the bishop prostrated himself with the penitents on the pavement of the church, and the clergy stood around and chanted the seven penitential psalms. The bishop continued with prayers for the penitents, and, with a repeated ritual of genuflexion and antiphonal chanting of Kyrie eleyson, Christe eleyson, Kyrie eleyson, the procession moved first to the door of the quire and then to the church entrance. There, the bishop led the penitents to the threshold of the building and expelled them, and followed this with a sermon to the people.

			
				
					[image: A medieval stone carving depicting an angel leading two figures out of a walled city, likely representing a biblical or allegorical scene.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 9 A spandrel relief in Worcester Cathedral (photograph by the author, 
CC BY-NC 4.0)

			For the reconciliation, the second part of the rite held on Maundy Thursday, the Pontifical reads, ‘At the third hour of the day, all [the penitents] having assembled should wait before the door of the basilica, barefoot and clad in wool’. The bishop was accompanied by one deacon, the penitents by another. The first deacon would chant Dicite quare venistis [State why you have come], and the other would answer Indulgentie causa [for forgiveness]. The bishop intoned Venite, then a ritual of responses, kneeling and rising, and Kyrie eleyson, Christe eleyson, Kyrie eleyson sung antiphonally, were followed by prayers. The pattern was repeated with Venite intoned twice and again with it intoned three times. Venite was the first word of an antiphon, which was then sung through.67 The bishop preached a sermon to the people, and then the archdeacon led the penitents one by one to the bishop, who restored them to the ‘bosom of the church’. In the quire, the bishop and penitents prostrated themselves as the convent sang the Litany. Finally, the bishop addressed prayers on behalf of the prostrate penitents and gave them the absolution.

			Bishop Wulfstan I was concerned that this rite was not used as widely as it should have been, but at Worcester it continued in use in the thirteenth century, and the Antiphoner includes a very similar liturgy to the one in the Pontifical.68

			The Easter Sepulchre Rite


			This three-part rite was an important and dramatic expression of the Easter proclamation of the Resurrection. All three parts, known as the depositio, elevatio, and visitatio, have something of the theatre about them, but the last of these is often seen as the seed of the popular religious plays of the Middle Ages. It was re-enacted by the monks themselves. The rite is included in the Regularis Concordia, and so is likely to have formed part of the liturgy at Worcester from the late tenth century.69

			In the depositio, the cross was placed in a temporary sepulchre. The Concordia and the later processional of the Worcester Antiphoner place this after the adoration of the cross on Good Friday. The processional includes the three antiphons and the responsory that were sung as it happened, but there is no description of the sepulchre itself. Typically, by the fourteenth century, it lay on the north side of the quire; curtains would be drawn in front of the cross, and lights would burn before it. At the church of St Michael in Bedwardine, next to the cathedral, it consisted of a frame sitting on the altar, before which curtains hung on a wire, and a taper burned in front.70 The priory is likely to have had something larger, but evidence for the time of the Antiphoner is rather scarce.71 We do know, though, that by the sixteenth century, the Blessed Sacrament was being placed in the sepulchre along with the cross.72

			The Concordia describes the second part of the ritual, the elevatio, as a secret one in which the sacrist was to come at night, before the call for Matins on Easter Day. His task was to remove the cross from the sepulchre and to place it in an appropriate place so that the ‘tomb’ might be found empty.73 By the time of the Worcester Antiphoner, the elevatio was no longer secret but still did not involve the entire convent. The rubrics describe the waking of the participants on Easter morning as follows: 

			Before the hour of Matins, let the bishop be roused by the subsacrist. The night lights having been lit in the cloister, let him wake the prior, subprior, precentor and eight or more of the seniors who, without copes, ready and washed, vest themselves in the quire, where sufficient albs have been placed for the devotions of the convent. The bishop wears an alb, stole, cope, etc., and the prior an alb and cope.74

			A procession was formed to the sepulchre, where, after an antiphon and prayers, the bishop asperged and censed the cross before processing with it to the vestry. Meanwhile, the antiphon Christus resurgens ex mortuis [Christ rising from the dead] was sung. The cross (and hence the sepulchre) must have been a substantial size since it was borne together by the bishop, who shouldered the lower part, and the prior, who took the top. In the vestry, servants of the church replaced the cross in its usual place using a ladder.75

			The final part of the rite, the visitatio, occurred during Matins.76 The Marys approached the angel guarding Christ’s empty tomb, who asked, softly and sweetly, ‘Quem queritis?’ [Whom do you seek?]. They replied, ‘Jesus of Nazareth’, and the angel answered, ‘He is not here. He has risen as he foretold. Go and announce that he has risen from the dead’. As they walked away, the angel insisted that the holy women should examine the empty tomb, and lifted the curtain, singing Venite et videte locum [Come and see the place], to display the cloth that represented Christ’s winding sheet. The Vita Wulfstani refers to the ‘trophy of the Lord’s banner’ in the western chapel of Oswald’s cathedral, and Klukas has suggested this was the gravesheet that was shown in this ritual.77 Supporting this interpretation, Carol Heitz has found that the ceremony actually took place in the upper level of the westworks of continental churches during the Carolingian period.78 It may well be, therefore, that the Easter sepulchre rite took place in the western chapel of Oswald’s cathedral.

			The visitatio may not have been performed at Worcester at the time of the Antiphoner. Pamela Sheingorn has commented that it was much less popular in England than it was on the continent, and it is omitted from the Use of Sarum. Prior to the tenth-century synod at Winchester, the Matins gospel had been from Mark and concerned the visit of the two Marys to the sepulchre. After this synod, the Benedictine Use omitted the gospel reading at Matins and substituted the visitatio drama, which related the same story. The Worcester Antiphoner makes no mention of the visitatio but continues to omit the gospel reading.79

			Procession on Palm Sunday 

			Although the timing of the Palm Sunday procession is not mentioned in the Worcester Antiphoner, it was usual for it to take place between Terce and Mass.80 There were in fact two processions. After the palms had been blessed, two antiphons were sung while they were distributed and a procession was formed near the armaria, or book cupboards, in the east cloister walk (Fig. 10). This first procession represented the crowd. It left through the guest locutory (now the cathedral café) and moved through the cemetery to St Michael’s Church, singing several more antiphons on the way. A station was then held near the church, below an outstretched ‘tapestry of the procession’, which presumably showed Christ entering Jerusalem on a donkey. A station was a pause in the procession, during which antiphons were sung and collects read. The pause could be quite lengthy, so chairs with cushions were available for the bishop and dean if they wished to sit, but the remainder had to stand. 

			
				
					[image: A floor plan of a monastic church, showing processional routes with labelled stations such as the cloisters, chapter house, and Holy Cross altar.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 10 The route of the Palm Sunday procession, thirteenth century (drawn by the author, CC BY-NC 4.0)

			Meanwhile two priests, wearing copes and playing the part of Christ and a disciple set out from the north porch carrying a ‘small precious feretrum [portable shrine]’ with the Blessed Sacrament on top. They moved towards St Michael’s, led by the priest of the infirmary, who carried the sacrist’s shining lamp.

			When the two processions had met and three further antiphons had been sung, all moved back to the north porch, and a second station took place. Outside the porch, the tapestry depicting the procession would be hung, with seats in a semicircle before it. Four or five of the better singers, with boys appointed by the precentor, then sang the hymn Gloria, Laus et Honor from ‘above the porch’, implying that there was an upper storey with openings or windows to project the sound.81 Children are mentioned only rarely in the Worcester Antiphoner, but this ceremony was a traditional one. The use of boys chanting from an upper floor was widespread across Europe. Child singers were seen as symbolic of an angel choir, and the cathedral was playing the part of the Heavenly Jerusalem as well as the earthly one.82 

			The procession ended with a further station near the font, probably at the altar of the Holy Cross at the Rood Screen. The crucifix, having been veiled since Passion Sunday, was uncovered and left exposed until after the Mass, after which it was veiled again until Easter.

			St Wulfstan’s Procession

			
				
					[image: A floor plan of a monastic church indicating another processional route, passing through the cemetery and returning to the quire.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 11 The route of St Wulfstan’s Procession, thirteenth century (drawn by the author, CC BY-NC 4.0)

			After Compline on the eve of festivals of rank septem festum, St Wulfstan’s procession was held83 (Fig. 11). The rubric in the Worcester Antiphoner reads:

			The procession called Saint Wulfstan’s assembles, as for a [feast of rank] solemnis processio, led by banners. Four sing Salve festa dies and, having sung the first verse in the middle of the quire, if the weather is fine, the procession leaves below through the great door. It proceeds through the cemetery, the cantores [the semi-chorus group of four] moving side by side before the borne cross and brachia [arm reliquaries], and enters through the guest locutory. 

			Sixteen verses of the famous sixth-century hymn Salve festa dies are included to take the procession around the outside of the cathedral. The great door (maius ostium) is identified elsewhere in the Antiphoner as the one with a porch, implying that it was the north door; the guest locutory (locutorium hospitum) is generally accepted as being the slype between the chapter house and the south-west transept. This passage was later to lead to the Guesten Hall, and was the only place within the priory where monks were allowed to talk to visitors.

			The rubric continues:

			In the cloister, a station is made in the usual way, and, one verse having been said,84 [with] the cantores and deacons standing in the middle, they proceed into the church. The deacons and others stand in the usual way [in the quire], before whom the cantores, standing, say the verse Qui crucifixus erat. The convent sits and repeats Salve after each verse. Afterwards, the conclusion is brought about.

			The usual station was in the east walk of the cloister near the armaria, and the hymn would proceed with the cantores singing the verses, between which the convent would repeat the first of these (Salve festa dies) as a refrain. The verse Qui crucifixus erat deus [God, who was crucified] was kept until the end and treated with special reverence, the cantores turning toward the cross to ‘bring about the conclusion’.

			
				
					[image: A reliquary in the shape of a gilded hand making a blessing gesture, decorated with intricate patterns and openings for relics.]
				

			

			

			Fig. 12 An arm reliquary from the Netherlands of c.1230 (Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, public domain, http://www.metmuseum.org/art/collection/search/471270)

			The use of arm reliquaries was significant. They were made in the form of a right arm with either an open palm or with index and middle fingers raised in a gesture of benediction (Fig. 12). The term brachium referred to the shape of the reliquary, and the relic inside did not necessarily come from an arm. The use of the plural in the rubric suggests that there were two, and at Worcester the most likely saints to have such reliquaries are St Wulfstan and St Oswald, although why the procession was only named after Wulfstan is unclear. The brachia would be held aloft through the cemetery, transmitting Wulfstan’s and Oswald’s blessings to the souls of monks who had died.85 At the same time, the singing of the hymn Salve festa dies toto venerabilis aevo [Hail festival day, venerable in all ages] would greet the coming festival, so that the procession served two purposes. The septem festum days were spread throughout the year, and, at least for those occurring in the winter months, the procession must have been undertaken in darkness.

			* * *

			This chapter has mainly concerned the period up to the writing of the Worcester Antiphoner and the construction of the Lady Chapel. It was a time of great advances. Under Bishop Wulfstan II the number of monks had grown to fifty; a new Romanesque cathedral had been built, with an innovative circular chapter house added shortly after; and a busy scriptorium had produced a substantial library of manuscripts. Martin Heale has observed that the finest achievements of the monasteries came in the early or high Middle Ages, and their ‘golden age’ was then over by 1200.86 But this does not mean they became a spent force; they moved on in new ways. One advance at Worcester concerned the music. New polyphonic settings of the liturgy were used for certain feast days. Then, in a move to allow the laity regular access to some monastic services using polyphony, a stipendiary choir was introduced in a chapel open to the public. These new developments are discussed in the next chapter.
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